IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 73444

WILLIAM WITTER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 26 2018 11:08 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Stephen L. Huffaker, District Judge District Court Case C117513

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and sentence of death in Case No. C117513. A third amended judgment of conviction was entered on July 12, 2017. 26ROA5826-5829. Witter filed a timely notice of appeal on July 10, 2017. 26ROA5808-10. See NRAP 4(a)(6) (premature notice of appeal "shall be considered filed on the date of" entry of judgment). This Court has appellate jurisdiction under NRS 177.015(3).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This proceeding is appropriately retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(1) because it is a death penalty case.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Whether *Slaatte v. State*, 129 Nev. 219, 298 P.3d 1170 (2013) has any implications for this appeal and whether a lack of subject matter jurisdiction rendered previous proceedings a nullity.

B. Whether the trial court's mishandling of Witter's *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) challenge and the State's demonstratively
pretextual reason for striking a Black female juror compel reversal.

C. Whether pervasive and egregious errors during Witter's voir dire contaminated the jury.

D. Whether the trial court violated Witter's federal constitutional rights when it erroneously instructed the jury on premeditated first-degree murder.

E. Whether the jury's consideration of four invalid aggravators to find Witter eligible for the death penalty violated his constitutional rights, and whether that death sentence survives this Court's mandatory review in light of the invalid aggravators.

F. Whether the murder victim's family's irrelevant and prejudicial victim impact testimony violated constitutional prohibitions on victims making sentencing recommendations.

G. Whether the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by injecting improper and inflammatory statements into its opening and closing arguments.

H. Whether the State's introduction of misleading and highly prejudicial evidence that Witter was in a gang, and the trial court's

 $\mathbf{2}$

subsequent failure to grant a sentencing continuance, to the defense to address this evidence violated Witter's constitutional rights.

I. Whether the State's use of Witter's juvenile conduct to support a sentence of death violated *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

J. Whether the admission of unnecessarily gruesome and duplicative photographs during the guilt phase prejudiced the jury and violated Witter's constitutional rights.

K. Whether the State's improper use of facts and data underlying a defense expert's report violated Witter's constitutional rights.

L. Whether the trial court erred in restricting Witter from crossexamining a prosecution witness who was asked questions as an "expert" on direct examination.

M. Whether the trial court's failure to give proper instructions, and the ensuing exploitation of that failure by the State, violated Witter's constitutional rights.

N. Whether Nevada's arbitrary and capricious capital punishment scheme violates the state and federal constitutions.

3

O. Whether elected judge's review of Witter's capital cases is constitutional.

P. Whether the cumulative effect of the voluminous errors throughout Witter's trial require reversal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Witter of first-degree murder, among other offenses. 26ROA5826-28. At sentencing, the jury found four aggravating circumstances: the murder was committed by a person previously convicted of a violent felony, while the person was engaged in burglary, while the person was engaged in sexual assault, and to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. 26ROA5827. The jury determined no mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances and Witter should be sentenced to death. A third amended judgment of conviction was entered on July 12, 2017. 26ROA5826.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt Phase

Kathryn Cox, a clerk at the Luxor Hotel, took a shuttle bus to the hotel parking lot when her shift concluded at 10:00 p.m. on November 14, 1993. Finding her vehicle would not start, she got a ride back to the hotel with a fellow employee and called her husband and asked him to pick her up. Cox then returned to her car via the shuttle bus to wait for her husband. She got into the car and began reading a book. 4ROA873– 84.

Five to ten minutes later, the passenger door opened and a man later identified as Witter got into the car. He ordered Cox not to look at him and drive the car out of the parking lot. When Cox told him that she couldn't, Witter got "very angry" and started "raging," stabbing her repeatedly with a knife and threatening to kill her. He then removed his penis from his pants and attempted to have Cox perform oral sex on him. 4ROA884–99.

Cox briefly escaped the vehicle before Witter grabbed her and returned her to the vehicle. She could smell alcohol on his breath. 4ROA899–903. The jury would later learn that Witter had been gambling and drinking since at least 8:00 p.m., approximately three hours before the offense. 6ROA1182–83, 1214–16. By the time of the offense, Witter was extremely intoxicated, with a blood-alcohol content between .13 and .19. 6ROA1229–46.

 $\mathbf{5}$

As Witter continued his attempt to sexually assault Ms. Cox and grew increasingly agitated, her husband, James Cox, arrived in the taxi he drove and opened the driver's-side door of his wife's vehicle. Unaware that the two were married, Witter attempted to persuade James to leave. He refused and ordered Witter out of the vehicle. Witter complied, leaving his knife on the dashboard of Kathryn's vehicle. 4ROA900–10.

Outside of the vehicle, Witter and James engaged in "scuffling and yelling." At some point, Witter retrieved the knife from the dashboard and stabbed James several times. Witter again prevented Kathryn's attempt to flee and returned her to her vehicle. Hotel security eventually arrived; Kathryn heard "a lot of noise" and Witter yelling, "Shoot me; shoot me; why don't you just shoot me." 4ROA910–920; 5ROA921. Witter was apprehended; Kathryn survived her injuries; James did not.

In his post-arrest statements to the police, Witter explained that "things were very fuzzy in his mind about what had happened" at the time of the offense, the events "a blur in his mind," his "head . . . all sorts of fucked up." Witter rambled; his eyes were bloodshot, either from intoxication or crying. Witter explained that he and James Cox "got into it," at which point Witter "lost control." According to the officer receiving the statement, Witter's demeanor at the time of the interview "was that of someone that has calmed down after being excited," or like "someone that's been really upset is finally catching their breath and calming down." 6ROA1183, 1186, 1217–19.

B. Penalty Phase

In the penalty phase, the State presented evidence of Witter's prior conviction for assault with a deadly weapon, arising from a 1986 altercation in San Jose, California, with the new boyfriend of an exgirlfriend, Gina Martin. The arresting officer noted that at the time he took Witter into custody there was some odor of alcohol about his person, as well as slurred speech and glassy eyes. 7ROA1609. Other testimony established that Witter had a blood-alcohol level of .21 percent. 8ROA1624; 9ROA1998. Another San Jose officer described a 1993 arrest; once again, Witter had a strong odor of alcohol on his breath and bloodshot, watering eyes. 8ROA1637–47. Witter's parole

7

officer in connection with his 1986 conviction noted that his institutional history had identified him as an "alcohol abuser." 8ROA1614–28.

At trial, two San Jose police officers speculated that Mr. Witter was "possibly" a gang member 8ROA1656, based their examination of several photographs showing Witter's tattoos, or Witter wearing clothing associated with the San Francisco 49ers football team, or Witter allegedly making hand signs consistent with those used by gangs by folding his thumbs under his palms. 8ROA1652-55, 1690-94. On the other hand, both of the officers who testified regarding Witter's prior criminal conduct admitted they were not gang-related offenses and that the underlying police reports did not identify him as a gang member. 8ROA1660-66, 1694. Likewise, Witter's former parole officer, Linda Rose, testifying about his prior record, never once indicated that any particular prior offense was gang-related, or even that Witter had been identified as a gang member. 7ROA1610; 8ROA1611-34.

The State also presented testimony from three family members of the victim James Cox, including Kathryn Cox herself, who asked the jury to show Witter "no mercy." 8ROA1783–86.

In mitigation, trial counsel presented the testimony of various family members, including:

(1) His aunt, Ruth Fabela, who explained that Witter's mother
 (her sister) had serious drug and alcohol problems from a young age.
 8ROA1810–23.

(2) Witter's half-sister, Tina Whitesell, described their mother as someone who "didn't care about anybody but herself and her drugs and alcohol and men," and life with her as "awful . . . lots of people at our house; spoons; cotton; syringes; pills." She remembered incidents of her mother chasing Witter's father, Louis Witter,¹ with a knife; and of him hitting his wife while she was pregnant. Tina also explained that Witter's father wasn't around much because he was in prison. Eventually the Witter children were sent to live with their grandparents, who also drank heavily. Tina added that as she was

¹ The correct spelling of Witter's father's name is Lewis.

growing up, Witter got hit a lot. Tina also testified that the grandfather used to try to fondle her. 8ROA1824–40; 9ROA1841–58.

(3) Witter's father, Louis, told the jury that he had three felony convictions for robbery, firearms possession by an ex-felon, and rape. He also acknowledged having problems with alcohol, heroin, methamphetamine, barbiturates and "whatever I could get my hands on." He described Witter's mother as an alcoholic and heroin addict. Regarding the couple's relationship, Louis Witter explained:

> Well, we would drink to the point of excess, which was usually most of the time, and she used to have this habit or bringing up things that I had done in the past, to the point of I couldn't stand it anymore and I would start hitting her, kicking her.... She was pretty tough. She would try to fight me back with her fists, but a lot of times, she'd run to the kitchen and grab a butcher knife and try to attack me.

9ROA1864.

The children, including Witter, witnessed the fights. Louis Witter admitted that when his son was older, he would include him in his drug usage, including helping Witter shoot up methamphetamine. 9ROA1859–93.

10

(4) Arlan Justice, an investigator for the Clark County Public Defender's Office, explained that Witter, early in the proceedings, acknowledged to him that the crime "was his responsibility; he was responsible for what happened; it was up to him to bear whatever happened to him." 9ROA1922–24.

(5) Another of Witter's sisters, Elisa "Lani" Sanders, testified that their grandfather was very strict with William, and would discipline him by punching him in the face. Lani had also been sexually abused by the grandfather. She testified that when not drunk, Witter "was a good person, very generous," with a "big heart," who treated his nieces and nephews well. She testified that she loved her brother. 9ROA1928–54.

(6) Psychologist Louis Etcoff testified that he had diagnosed Witter with various disorders, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, marijuana, alcohol and amphetamine abuse, and antisocial personality disorder. 9ROA1985–86. In his expertise, Witter "grew up in one of the most dysfunctional families that I can remember studying. ... For all intents and purposes, he would have been better off without parents than having the parents that he had." 9ROA1987–88. He also described Witter's background as "the quintessential family that would produce a violent person." 9ROA1987.

Dr. Etcoff told the jury that "alcohol disinhibits in the brain a

person's ability to stop whatever is inside from coming out." 9ROA1995.

Applying this to Witter, the doctor testified:

So alcohol in a very angry person is a substance that a very angry person, it should be illegal, so to speak, for them to have, because it disinhibits them and allows the anger to be manifested and sometimes in terrible ways.

•••

[Witter's] records and his behaviors are replete with anger. Anger is a huge, huge important characteristic of his person.

9ROA1996–97. In short, anger generated in Witter from his

dysfunctional upbringing, including Witter's report that he had been

molested by his uncle at a young age, caused him to act out violently,

especially under the influence of substances, in particular alcohol.

9ROA1994-97.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a direct appeal from a final judgment in a death penalty case. Due to the existence of prior proceedings, this Court invited the parties to discuss issues "related to the law of the case doctrine and the implications of this court's decision in Slaatte v. State, 129 Nev. 219, 298 P.3d 117 (2013)." Document 18-07121. Witter believes that the only potential relevance of *Slaatte* to this appeal is that it shows this Court previously lacked appellate subject matter jurisdiction over the 1996 appeal. That issue does not affect the disposition of the instant appeal because the Third Amended Judgment of Conviction is undoubtedly final, and, even if *Slaatte* was relevant here, this Court's precedents dictate the decision must apply to Witter. And even if this Court did have subject matter jurisdiction in 1996, it is still appropriate to litigate the instant appeal from the Third Amended Judgment.

Similarly, the law-of-the-case doctrine does not apply to the claims raised in Witter's instant appeal because the absence of appellate subject matter jurisdiction in 1996 renders that proceeding a nullity. Even if this were not the case, however, Witter's claims must still be reviewed because he can show that exceptions to the law-of-the-case apply here. He has included a section on the law of the case after each of his claims.

On the merits, Witter's trial and sentencing were infected by numerous claims of constitutional error that skewed the proceedings in favor of the State and prejudiced him. The composition of the jury itself was distorted by the prosecutor's discriminatory use of a peremptory challenge to remove a Black female juror. The trial court contaminated the jury throughout voir dire with prejudicial statements regarding the position of the Christian Bible on the death penalty; prevented defense counsel from life qualifying the jury in light of Witter's prior violent felony conviction; made prejudicial statements regarding the equal consideration of penalties, the diminished role of each juror in the sentencing process, and the existence of other high profile murder cases; and the trial court failed to grant a meritorious challenge to a juror for cause.

The trial court skewed the proceedings in favor of the State and against Witter throughout the rest of the trial. The instructions given to the jury in the guilt and penalty proceedings misstated the law and diluted the State's burden of proof. The trial court submitted three invalid aggravating circumstances that were found by the jury. The trial court improperly admitted prejudicial victim impact testimony, failed to sustain objections to prosecutorial misconduct, and improperly admitted prejudicial evidence regarding Witter's alleged gang affiliation, juvenile history, and gruesome photographs. The court allowed the State to present expert testimony on direct examination, but refused to allow the defense to cross-examine the same witness on his opinions. The court also permitted the State to misuse expert data generated by Witter's defense expert for substantive purposes.

Witter submits that the cumulative effect of the errors that occurred in his case require reversal of his convictions and death sentence even if they are not individually found to be harmful. The prejudice resulting from the errors discussed above (and argued in more detail below) were exacerbated by Nevada's arbitrary and capricious capital sentencing scheme and the fact that Witter's case was adjudicated by judges and reviewed by justices whose tenure was dependent on popular election.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. This is a direct appeal from a final judgment

1. The instant appeal does not provide an occasion to determine the implications of this Court's decision in *Slaatte v. State*, 129 Nev. 219, 298 P.3d 1170 (2017), in Witter's case

This Court previously invited the parties to discuss "the

implications of this court's decision in Slaatte v. State, 129 Nev. 219,

298 P.3d 1170 (2013)." Document 18-07121 at 1.² Slaatte holds that this

Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over an appeal where

the judgment of conviction contemplates restitution but does not specify

a definite amount. Id. at 220-222, 298 P.3d at 1170-71 (citing NRS

176.105(1)(c), 176.033(1)(c)).

² In its order denying the State's petition for writ of mandamus in Docket No. 75417, the Court said the "State may litigate claims challenging the applicability of the decisions in *Whitehead v. State*, 128 Nev. 259, 285 P.3d 1053 (2012), and *Slaatte v. State*, 129 Nev. 219, 298 P.3d 1170 (2013), and the effect of the third amended judgment of conviction in the appeals pending in *Witter v. State*, Docket Nos. 73431, 73444." *State v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, No. 75417, Order Denying Petition (filed May 15, 2018).
Slaatte does not have any application to this appeal because the Third Amended Judgment is final as it contains a definite amount of restitution. *Slaatte* is only relevant to a case where the amount of restitution is indefinite. Any discussion of *Slaatte* in this appeal is improper as it would constitute an advisory opinion. See Personhood *Nevada v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602-03, 245 P.3d 572, 574-75 (2010). Whatever this Court believed about how *Slaatte* applied to Witter's prior judgment of conviction, an appeal from the instant final judgment of conviction would not be affected by such a decision. This Court implicitly confirmed this position when it dismissed the State's amended notice of appeal from the Third Amended Judgment. Document 18-07121 at 1. Without a valid cross-appeal, no relief can be afforded to the State here.

The State also acknowledges it cannot litigate the application of *Slaatte* in this appeal. In its petition for writ of mandamus filed in Docket No. 75417, the State argued it "has no right of appeal from an order granting the Third Amended Judgment of Conviction" and "this Court will have no opportunity to review the propriety and authority for ordering the third amended judgment of conviction outside of a habeas proceeding." Pet. For Writ of Mandamus, No. 75417, at 5 (filed March 26, 2018); *id.* at 8 ("In neither of the two appeals will this Court have the ability to vacate or strike the Third Amended Judgment of Conviction as is being sought in this mandamus petition."). Witter agrees with the State on this point.

The procedural posture of this case also makes its inappropriate for this Court to entertain arguments from the State regarding the effect of *Slaatte* on Witter's appeal. The State invited the very error upon which it now complains by stating a need to file the amended judgment, 26ROA 5791–92, and also waived any argument against entry of the Third Amended Judgment that was omitted from its opposition to the motion for order. 26ROA 5792–93; *see* EDCR 2.20(e), 3.20(c). The doctrines of invited error and waiver accordingly prevent the State from arguing against the entry of the Third Amended Judgment on appeal. *E.g., Pearson v. Pearson*, 110 Nev. 293, 297, 871 P.2d 343, 345-46 (1994). Even if *Slaatte* could be litigated in this appeal, it would not provide a basis for disturbing the Third Amended Judgment. While *Slaatte* acknowledged earlier cases from this Court where the judgment was reversed for entry of a definite amount of restitution, none of those "prior decisions addressed whether the judgment was final given its failure to comply with NRS 176.105(1)." *Id.* at 221, 298 P.3d at 1171. It is axiomatic that prior cases do not stand for propositions not actually decided.

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