IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WILLIAM WITTER,

Appellant,

Appenan

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Oct 29 2018 10:42 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 73444

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DAVID ANTHONY
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada Bar #007978
TIFFANY L. NOCON
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada Bar #014318C
STACY NEWMAN
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada Bar #014245
411 E. Bonneville, Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 388-6577

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

skills including using restroom facilities unassisted. 6 ROA 1187-88. On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited that Witter's blood alcohol content was .07 and that the detective was not looking for evidence of intoxication the same as he would if he were making a DUI arrest. 6 ROA 1211-13. Defense counsel also elicited that Witter did not define exactly what he meant when he said that he had a buzz but was not drunk, and that Witter had also said his recollection was hazy and his eyes were bloodshot which could be additional symptoms of intoxication. 6 ROA 1216-20. On re-direct, the prosecutor inquired whether the detective knew how an individual's tolerance for alcohol would affect his ability to function. 6 ROA 1223. The detective responded that some people cannot function at all at .10 and some people can be .20 and function quite well. Id. The detective testified that he observed that Witter was able to function at .07. Id.

On re-cross, after asking additional questions about Witter's blood alcohol content at the time of the crime, defense counsel inquired whether, "alcoholics can function better after consuming alcohol," and the prosecutor objected on grounds that it called for speculation and because the detective was not an expert on alcoholism. 6 ROA 1225. The objection was sustained but defense counsel was permitted to inquire further into the detective's experience. <u>Id</u>. The detective responded that he knew that people with a higher tolerance for alcohol can function better than someone who has a low tolerance, but that he had no basis or knowledge

to say whether they could function better than with no alcohol in their body. 6 ROA 1226. When defense counsel persisted in asking whether an alcoholic could function better at a .07 than a person who is not an alcoholic, the prosecutor objected and the judge sustained on grounds that the question was too far afield and the detective was not an expert on alcohol. 6 ROA 1227.

Determinations of whether a limitation on cross-examination infringes upon the constitutional right of confrontation are reviewed de novo. Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. 267, 277, 130 P.3d 176, 182 (2006). Importantly, "trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on ... cross-examination based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant." Farmer v. State, 133 Nev. ____, 405 P.3d 114, 123 (2017), citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986). Expert witnesses may only testify to matters within the scope of their specialized knowledge. NRS 50.275. "[T]he Confronation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." Pantano v. State, 122 Nev. 782, 790, 138 P.3d 477, 482 (2006).

In this case, the defense was permitted broad leeway to inquire about intoxication with the detective. It was only the inquiry about alcoholics functioning

better at a .07 than a person who is not an alcoholic that was beyond the scope of the detective's limited knowledge. This was not a limitation on cross-examination (or re-cross in this case) which excluded evidence the defendant had a right to elicit or which showed favoritism to the prosecution. It was simply a question beyond the scope of knowledge and expertise of the detective.

M. Jury instructions

1. Reasonable doubt

In Nevada, the definition of reasonable doubt is specified by statute and, under NRS 175.211(2), no other jury instruction on reasonable doubt is permitted. This codified instruction was given in this case without objection and has been repeatedly upheld as constitutional. 7 ROA 1412; 9 ROA 1907; Garcia v. State, 121 Nev. 327, 339-340, 113 P.3d 836 (2005); Noonan v. State, 115 Nev. 184, 189-190, 980 P.2d 637 (1999). In fact, the specific language concerning an "abiding conviction," has been federally endorsed as a correct formulation of the standard. Ramirez v. Hatcher, 136 F.3d 1209, 1214 (9th Cir. 1998), quoting Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 14–15, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 1247 (1994) ("The jurors were told that they must have 'an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge,' i.e., of defendant's guilt, a correct formulation of the government's burden of proof under Victor, 511 U.S. at 14-15, 114 S.Ct. at 1247-48"). Where the U.S. Supreme Court has approved of this precise

language, it is unnecessary to address Witter's obscure and nonbinding case authority from Wisconsin in 1901 and Pennsylvania in 1891.

2. Penalty phase instructions

a. Failure to instruct on character evidence

The jury in this case was not specifically instructed pursuant to NRS 175.552(3) on the proper use of character evidence in the penalty hearing because Witter made no such request and such instructions were not *sua sponte* required by this Court until five years after the trial took place in 1995. See Hollaway v. State, 116 Nev. 732, 746-747, 6 P.3d 987 (2000), modified by Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. ____, 351 P.3d 725, 733 (2015). Although the prosecutor certainly used the character evidence to argue to the jury that "history repeats itself," this was only in rebuttal in support of an argument for future dangerousness and selection of an appropriate sentence, not for establishing the existence of an aggravating circumstance. 10 ROA 2118, 2122, 2127, 2129, 2132. When the prosecutor discussed the existence of the aggravating circumstances and death eligibility, no improper use of character evidence was made. 10 ROA 2086-90. In fact, the defense conceded the existence of an aggravating circumstance, so death eligibility was not an issue. 10 ROA 2111. When character evidence was discussed, it was in reference to the selection of an appropriate sentence which was the only contested issue, not the constitutional narrowing required for death eligibility. 10 ROA 2086-99. Because there is no risk in this case that the jury used "other matter" evidence to undermine the constitutional narrowing process in the finding of an aggravating circumstance which was not even in dispute, the failure to specifically instruct on that point was at most harmless.

b. Failure to instruct on unanimity

The jury in this case was not explicitly instructed to find aggravators unanimously and that mitigators required no consensus because Witter made no such request and such instructions were not *sua sponte* required by this Court until three years after the trial took place in 1995. *See* Geary v. State, 114 Nev. 100, 105, 952 P.2d 431, 433 (1998). In Geary, this Court set forth new instructions to be given prospectively "to forestall future uncertainty on the issues . . . ," but the omission was harmless because a reasonable jury would have understood the requirement for unanimity from the instructions that were given. Id.; *see also* Jimenez v. State, 112 Nev. 610, 624, 918 P.2d 687 (1996) (failure to specifically instruct that a single juror could find and give effect to mitigating evidence was harmless where reasonable jury would have so understood from the totality of the instructions); Nika v. State, 124 Nev. 1272, 1297-1298, 198 P.3d 839 (2008) (same result).

As in <u>Geary</u>, <u>Jimenez</u>, and <u>Nika</u>, any failure in the present case to specifically instruct the jury on these matters was harmless because there is no risk the jury would have misunderstood the requirements. The jury was instructed in the penalty hearing that, "Your verdict must be unanimous." 9 ROA 1913. The special verdict form

required the aggravators be established "beyond a reasonable doubt," and found by "We, the jury." 9 ROA 1916-17, 2061; Geary, supra, ("a reasonable jury would properly understand that the phrase 'we, the jury' required a unanimous finding of the aggravating circumstances".) Additionally, the individual jurors were polled and all unanimously acknowledged their verdicts as read. 10 ROA 2139-42. The instructions imposed the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard to the finding of aggravating circumstances but no such condition was attached to the finding of mitigating circumstances. 9 ROA 1905-6. In fact, as in Jimenez, the instructions placed no constraint at all on the right of individual jurors to find mitigators. 9 ROA 1909-10. Witter points to nothing in argument or in the record anywhere that would have confused the jury or caused them to misunderstand their duty under the law. Under these circumstances, the failure to more specifically instruct the jury on unanimity did not result in prejudice and at most was harmless.

c. Failure to instruct on weighing beyond a reasonable doubt Witter argues that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the mitigation evidence did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances pursuant to <u>Hurst infra</u>. Witter also faults this Court for reweighing after striking aggravating circumstances in the past. Witter misunderstands the law. In Nevada, the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard does not apply to the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, because

weighing is not factfinding and pertains to sentence selection not death eligibility.

McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 254, 212 P.3d 307, 314-15 (2009); Nunnery v.

State, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011); Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. ____, 351 P.3d 725, 732 (2015). Witter's reliance on Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S. ____, 136 S.Ct. 616 (2016), is misplaced. Hurst did nothing more than apply Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) to Florida's death penalty scheme and does not require that weighing be beyond a reasonable doubt. Jeremias v. State, 134 Nev. ____, 412 P.3d 43 (2018). Nor does Hurst overturn appellate reweighing. See Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 741, 110 S.Ct. 1441 (1990) (holding that "the Federal Constitution does not prevent a state appellate court from upholding a death sentence that is based in part on an invalid or improperly defined aggravating circumstance either by reweighing of the aggravating and mitigating evidence or by harmless-error review").

N. Arbitrary and capricious capital punishment scheme

This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that Nevada's capital penalty scheme is arbitrary and capricious and fails to perform its constitutional function. Thomas v. State, 122 Nev. at 1361, 1373, 148 P.3d 727, 735-36 (2006); Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 585, 119 P.3d 107, 128 (2005); Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 50 P.3d 1100 (2002); Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 370, 23 P.3d 227, 242 (2001); Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 82-83, 17 P.3d 397, 415-16 (2001); Thomas v. State, 122 Nev. at 1361, 1373, 148 P.3d 727, 735-36 (2006); Middleton v. State,

114 Nev. 1089, 1116-17, 968 P.2d 296, 314-15 (1998). Since this Court has repeatedly found that Nevada's death penalty scheme sufficiently narrows the class of persons eligible for the death penalty and Witter has failed to present any new or persuasive arguments in support of overturning this precedent, his claim must be denied.

O. Elected judges

The Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that judges are impartial or that a criminal defendant is prejudiced by having a popularly elected trial judge. Haberstroh v. Warden, 119 Nev. 173, 182, 69 P.3d 676, 685 (2003); McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 256, 212 P.3d 307, 316 (2009), citing Nevius v. Warden, 113 Nev. 1085, 1086–87, 944 P.2d 858, 859 (1997) (denying disqualification of supreme court justice where justice commented during election campaign that he favored death penalty in appropriate cases and had voted to uphold death penalty 76 times). In addition, a judge is presumed not to be biased and the burden is on the party making the challenge to show that a judge will not be fair in carrying out their duties. Goldman v. Bryan, 104 Nev. 644, 764 P.2d 1296 (1988).

P. Cumulative error

"The cumulative effect of errors may violate a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial even though errors are harmless individually." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1195, 196 P.3d 465, 481 (2008). When evaluating a claim of cumulative

error, this Court considers the following factors: "(1) whether the issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime charged." <u>Id</u>. Witter asks this Court to analyze the "total impact of errors" without regard to whether the individual errors were preserved. *See* <u>Jeremias v. State</u>, 134 Nev. ____, 412 P.3d 43, 55 (2018).

Although the gravity of the crime charged was great, Witter's counsel admits the issue of guilt was not close. Opening Brief, p. 195. Witter then references seven guilt phase errors warranting cumulative consideration. However, there was no prima facie evidence of a Batson violation as to prospective juror Elois Brown who did not even appear to the judge or prosecutor to be a minority. Other instances of alleged voir dire error were unpreserved and did not even constitute error at all. Although the Kazalyn instruction is no longer in use, it was and always has been a correct statement of Nevada law that did not result in any unconstitutional presumption in this case. The alleged prosecutorial misconduct either did not occur or in context was not an improper argument and resulted in no prejudice. The crime scene photographs were not overly gruesome under the circumstances. If Witter's cross or re-cross examination of the expert witness was at all restricted it was because his questions were beyond the scope of the witness's expertise. Finally, the reasonable doubt instruction was a correct statement of law.

As it concerns penalty, the State disagrees that any of the aggravators need be stricken as argued above. Any error under McConnell is without prejudice as a matter of law because the required constitutional narrowing is performed by the prior violent felony aggravator irrespective of the felony murder aggravators. objection was made to the scope of victim impact testimony which was constitutionally permissible under the circumstances. There is nothing improper or erroneous about the way in which gang and juvenile conduct was presented in this case. The instructions given on character evidence, unanimity, and weighing were sufficient under the circumstances and no evidence suggests the jury was misled or confused about its duty under the law. Nevada's capital punishment scheme is constitutional. Where the jury found in favor of all four aggravators and what mitigating evidence was presented was minimal and not compelling, the death sentence should not be reversed based on the cumulative effect of relatively minor errors or non-errors. See U.S. v. Rivera, 900 F.2d 1462, 1471 (10th Cir. 1990) ("[A] cumulative-error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, not the cumulative effect of non-errors.").

Q. Any error was harmless

This Court has an affirmative duty to review errors for harmlessness. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." *See also* Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935,

192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008) (noting that nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under Chapman for constitutional trial error is whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.'" Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n.14 (2001). To the extent the State inadvertently neglected to assert harmlessness in regard to any of the specific issues addressed above or raised in Witter's brief, the State does so now. All alleged errors were harmless under the applicable standard due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt and strength of the penalty evidence in

WHEREFORE, the Court should dismiss the instant appeal for lack of jurisdiction or in the alternative affirm the judgment.

Dated this 29th day of October, 2018.

aggravation as argued herein.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565

BY /s/ Steven S. Owens

STEVEN S. OWENS
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #004352
Office of the Clark County District Attorney